

TNO report

TNO 2020 R11009

Collaborative Business Models for Transition



Date

26 June 2020

Author(s)

Jan Jonker, Frank Berkers, Milou Derks, Naomi Montenegro Navarro, Sara Wieclawska, Finn Speijer and with guest contributions from: Kasper Ploegman, Hilde Engels

Number of pages	42 (incl. appendices)
Project name	Collaborative Business Models 4 Transition (CBM4T)
Project number	060.40850

All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced and/or published by print, photoprint, microfilm or any other means without the previous written consent of TNO.

In case this report was drafted on instructions, the rights and obligations of contracting parties are subject to either the General Terms and Conditions for commissions to TNO, or the relevant agreement concluded between the contracting parties. Submitting the report for inspection to parties who have a direct interest is permitted.

© 2020 TNO

Strategic Analysis & Policy

Anna van Buerenplein 1 2595 DA Den Haag P.O. Box 96800 2509 JE The Hague The Netherlands

www.tno.nl

T +31 88 866 00 00

Summary

Collaborative business models for transition

TNO initiated a study to innovatively combine sustainable and collaborative business models and the field of transition studies. This connection is relevant due to a growing number of societal, ecological, economically complex and interdependent challenges. These challenges call for a workable and practical approach to creating a sustainable transition in multiple sectors (e.g. energy, mobility, resources). Transitions are often blocked by a combination of factors such as technological uncertainties, static organisational models, institutionalised stakeholder behaviour, fluctuating policies and changing circumstances. This study focuses on developing a solid theoretical and practical basis for a research agenda at the intersection of fundamental and applied research, intending to provide tools to make transition processes more practical and effective and thus increasing the chances of success.

Transition Studies (TS) is a relatively young and evolving field of research, aimed at generating (useful) knowledge of social transitions for a sustainable and circular economy. Various approaches can be distinguished in TS. Often a collaborative and participatory process of observing, learning and experimenting is part of the central approach. Nevertheless, it remains a challenge to realise the intended large-scale system changes. Experiments are often stuck in their so-called 'niche development' and cannot bring about permanent changes in the sector. Established individual companies are often unable to achieve fundamental changes because they follow the current market, where revenue is usually generated based on sub-optimisation and unsustainable behaviour.

This project focuses on the idea that the system change, which is needed for the realisation of transitions, can be better designed when conscious and purposeful use is made of the collaborative business model concept. Business models are (action) concepts for organisations to create values based on a specific logic. The conventional business model is focused on one company (organisation-centric approach). In this paper, this idea is replaced by a collaborative business model with different parties such as companies, organisations and governments. The goal is to achieve collective value creation between and for all parties involved. This requires a collaborative process of organising a business model for the involved parties in which the competencies and capacities of the actors involved can be utilised in designing and realising a transition.

The main conclusions of the research to substantiate this Working Paper are as follows:

- Over the last two decades, systematic research has been carried out to develop a 'body of knowledge' about creating collective business models and transition thinking
- 2. These two domains are hardly connected in literature and practice, although promising approaches can be found
- The existing literature is characterised by a high degree of theoretical and conceptual content, which hinders the practical application of a combination between the two domains.

- 4. Both domains share as a central principle that the essence of the design and instrumentation of a process requires a different way of working together.
- 5. By effectively combining these two processes, designing transitions while working on collective business models, a valuable perspective on increasing the chances of success of these transitions is given.

Structure of the report

The existing literature and organisational practices offer only limited insight into which strategic and practical steps organisations need to take in their specific context to work together towards a collaborative business model. This Working Paper is written to make a connection between the concepts 'collaborative business models', 'value creation' and 'transition'. This is done based on a summary of the current knowledge on collaborative business models and by linking this to the various schools of thought in transition studies. The focus is on identifying the phases and steps that lead to the design of a process of value creation and transition. In addition, a focus on scale and scalability is added as a prerequisite for the deployment of collaborative business models for transition.



Figure 1: Interdisciplinary nature field of research

Additionally, an inventory of several case studies in the Netherlands and Europe was made in which we looked for cases that combine collaborative business models and transition studies. Furthermore, an inventory of current research- and

PhD projects of universities and colleges in the Netherlands has been made to create an overview of the focus of the research practice. These knowledge and insights combined form the basis for identifying different transition paths. Together, these different forms of input form the basis for creating a research agenda leading to a four-year research programme from 2021 onwards.

Colophon

Acknowledgements

We are very grateful to everyone who contributed directly or indirectly to the development of this publication. The authors owe TNO much gratitude for making a development grant available to realise this programme.

Origin of sources

In recent years, the authors of this publication, alone or with others, have written a large number of publications, working papers, research reports and White Papers on the two topics central to this publication: sustainable and collaborative business models and transition. In addition to formal academic publications, texts have been published on the digital platforms of the periodicals SIGMA, Management Impact, DuurzaamNieuws, TGTHR, Management Executive and websites such as LinkedIn, Twitter and New Business Models. During the compilation and editing of this text, both conscious and unconscious use was made of these earlier texts and the insights expressed in them, both directly and indirectly. Parts of the text are therefore 'recycled' (so-called 'autoplagiarism'). This means that some readers may come across text that they have seen before.

Language discrimination

In no way is the intention of using male and/or female referrals (her, his, she, he) intended to be discriminatory. Wherever we use 'she' in this publication, 'he' can and may be read, and wherever we use 'he', 'she' can and may also be read. By using these gender binary references, we do not want to exclude non-binary persons in any way. The choice for the use of 'he' and 'she' as reference words as demonstrative pronouns is only meant to guarantee the readability of the text.

Creative Commons

This publication is under a Creative Commons license. This license allows others to copy, distribute, display, perform, and create derivative works from the work as long as the authors are credited as the creators of the work, the work is not used commercially, and derivative works or portions of works are distributed under identical terms. Creative Commons License: CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

Feedback

Although this publication has been prepared with the greatest possible care, it may still contain unintentional errors. Should this be the case, please contact the authors.

Contact

We would be happy for you to get in touch with us if you would like to know more about this research project, the people involved or what TNO can do for you in transition processes. You will find our contact details in chapter 7 of this Working Paper.

The contents of this report were primarily created by a strong collaboration between TNO Unit Circular Economy & Environment and TNO Unit Strategy, Analysis & Policy.

Contents

	Summary	2
	Colophon	5
1	Transition as challenge	7
1.1	Why transition?	7
1.2	What are transitions?	8
1.3	What is the central task of a transition?	9
1.4	Transition thinking on different levels	9
1.5	Transition management	. 11
1.6	What is the current situation?	. 13
1.7	Current demand for transition knowledge	. 14
2	Collaborative Business Models	. 16
2.1	Developments in the knowledge of business models	. 16
2.2	Multiple value creation by collaboration	. 17
2.3	Why collaborative business models?	. 17
2.4	Scale as a critical condition	. 19
2.5	Collective value creation as the driving force of a transition	. 20
3	The field	. 21
3.1	Overview of NL and EU cases	. 21
3.2	Overview of EU-cases	. 22
3.3	Overview of TNO cases	. 24
3.4	Short reflection on the cases	. 25
4	Working together on transition by using collective value creation	. 27
4.1	Different approaches to transition	. 27
4.2	Towards a process approach to transitions	. 28
4.3	Making transition and collaboration business models concrete	. 29
5	Outline of a research agenda	. 32
5.1	Balancing between fundamental and applied research	. 32
5.2	The research challenge: operationalisation of collaborative business models as	
	transition paths	. 33
5.3	Developing a practical and methodical TNO-approach	. 34
5.4	Towards a development plan	. 35
5.5	The unique TNO approach: effectively realising transitions together	. 36
5.6	Call to Action	. 37
6	Bibliography	. 38
7	Contact	. 42
	Appendices	

A More detailed description of TNO cases

B The seven phases of a transition process

1 Transition as challenge

Our collaborative thinking about (organisational) change dates back to the middle of the last century. The origin of this thinking can be found in dealing with organisational-technical changes in wartime, and therefore under pressure. The approach was to make small adjustments to the routines, which largely remained the same. The essence was to improve the existing conditions in the short term; not doing one thing anymore by starting to do something else. 'Transition thinking' is partly based on this historical thinking about organisational change. It is a concept that attracts a growing amount of political, social and scientific interest. It is about fundamental, lasting change of social systems that leads to (among other things) new structures, working methods and relationships. Transition processes can only be designed to a limited extent since they change over time and are therefore unpredictable when it comes to the timeframe and the outcome of the transition. Think, for example, of the historical transition from small-scale to mechanised, large-scale agriculture, or the current transition from fossil to green energy. The essence is the redesign and restructuring of a relevant social (sub)system by maintaining the function of the (sub)system. These processes can be described as an ongoing activity of discovery and co-creation by the involved parties. Entering into a transition process together means that the actors collectively design the transition process and have to take on different roles. These roles can also change over time, which indicates that the actors need to deal with a lot of uncertainty together. This can mean that parties have to work together differently, that rules and regulations have to be changed, but also that citizens, employees and leaders have to change their mindset. A central rule of thumb in transition thinking is therefore not entirely surprising: designing a transition is a 25% technical and 75% socioorganisational and institutional task. Furthermore, success is not guaranteed beforehand. Only after some time will it become clear whether the desired transition will take shape or not.

1.1 Why transition?

In the coming years (but actually from now on, preferably even yesterday) the need for knowledge, competencies and skills around the functional addressing of transitions will increase urgently. The present societal challenges, such as the climate crisis, the biodiversity crisis and the discussion about fossil fuels, call for targeted and coordinated action to realise sustainability transitions. Currently, there is a policy basis for this in the form of the Climate Agreement, the Knowledge and Innovation Agendas (KIAs) and the Mission-driven Innovation Programmes (MMIPs, which all articulate the same message. However, realising sustainable transition in practice is proving to be very difficult. The question is whether the existing 'Body of Knowledge' is still appropriate and sufficient for the issues raised by the current transitions. It is difficult to give a positive answer to this question. Over the past decades, theoretical knowledge has certainly increased the understanding of the nature of and possible approaches to designing and managing transitions. But translation into practice in the form of concrete (process) tools remains insubstantial. An ongoing survey among people in knowledge institutions and consultancies shows that the knowledge, competencies and skills needed to effectively deal with transitions are thin on the ground. Against this background, the

8/42

justified task is to develop knowledge and expertise on how to focus, organise and carry out transitions.

1.2 What are transitions?

Transitions are large-scale, complex, multi-actor and trans-institutional change processes that take place between organisations, institutions and (individual) parties. These are fundamental changes that take place simultaneously at multiple levels and locations. They can relate to a variety of issues and do not necessarily have to result in a more sustainable situation (i.e. there are also unsustainable transitions). Although a more sustainable situation is usually explicitly aspired by the stakeholders involved.

Achieving a transition requires the dismantling of existing systems to create room for the construction of new ones. This takes time. Not surprisingly, transitions take at least ten years, but it is more realistic to assume that they will take several decades. Moreover, these are processes that often provoke fierce open and hidden resistance — after all, it is about redesigning the existing order with all its interests and interdependencies. In addition, there is often uncertainty and a lack of clarity about the pros and cons of the different directions in which a transition can go.

A central aspect of transitions is that it is about more than individual (organisational) interests. There is always value creation in multiple areas, based on the social interest of achieving the transition goal. Nevertheless, it appears time and again that our institutional environment (legislation and regulation in all possible areas) is capable of slowing down transitions considerably. At the same time, there are increasing calls for transitions — certainly if they have the ambition to contribute to sustainability. Currently, the Netherlands has a number of transition agendas that are in progress and have been placed under the responsibility of various ministries (e.g. EZK, I&W, LNV). All these agendas focus on sustainability (e.g. food, mobility, energy, raw materials) over a longer period of time, with 2030 and 2050 as 'reference dates'.

Background of transition studies

Our thinking about transitions has different foundations. It is grounded upon a technical-industrial foundation around the intentional realisation of changes in small steps. The central concepts of these intentional changes were developed before and during WWII and are highly technical and incremental. The key approach is to create incremental improvements on existing conditions. The scientific thought on large-scale social change dates back to the 1960s (with thinkers such as Etzioni, Giddens and Ostrom). These perspectives are often highly theoretical and abstract. The underlying systems thinking (with various representatives such as Meadows, Perez or Bar-Yam) finds a strong — and also recent — interest, but often lives its own academic life and is not or is only very abstractly connected to concrete transition issues. Over the past two decades, the study of transitions has been further developed by a group of mainly Dutch scientists (including Geels, Van Gils, Hekkert, Rotmans and Loorbach).

1.3 What is the central task of a transition?

Realising a transition requires the development and design of another functional (sub)system while at the same time developing a new system. After all, it is impossible to switch off one system from one day to the next (say an industry based on fossil resources) and 'switch on' the system that replaces it (say electrification, renewable energy or bio-based raw materials). The realisation of a new system is designed by a complex process comprising of different levels. It is common to refer to these as (a) the landscape (institutional and legal frameworks), (b) the regime (to be seen as the various sectors of society) and (c) the niche. The latter is mainly understood to represent individual companies and organisations that work together practically on the intended large-scale change.

The complexity and the different perspectives of transitions creates a gap between the academic literature on transitions and the practical design of these transitions in real life. The central task is to create purposeful transitions that lead to a change in sustainable direction. Hence, practice-oriented research into collective and participatory transition designs is required to bridge the gap between science and practice. This can contribute to the development of a toolkit for policymakers and transition managers to offer practical methods and tools to manage purposive transitions. The emphasis is on involving key stakeholders, developing a collective vision, creating a joint transition agenda and developing collaborative business models to shape the transition (Sondeijker et al., 2006). In this way, best practices in transition management can be collected and transitions can be designed and developed more effectively.

A participatory design can help to design the transition in such a way that it can be executed more successfully since the different stakeholders are involved. In addition, it should be possible to speed up a transition that has been initiated and to avoid lock-in of regime parties. This means involving both the parties already established in the regime (the sector) and the companies or organisations in the niche in the process of setting up the transition. Think of collaborative experiments in combination with knowledge and expertise exchange to achieve a common goal (Rotmans & Loorbach, 2009; Nevens et al., 2013). Creating a transition from a collective perspective leads to the disruption of obsolete techniques and is accelerated by successful niche developments. Through a joint transition agenda, old techniques can be phased out and replaced by more sustainable techniques that are more in line with societal demands (Loorbach, 2018). By involving the government, market, communities and non-governmental organisations in forming a shared vision, support is created for sustainable change. This offers opportunities for a transition with less resistance from the old system to the new, leading to a more sustainable system in which synergies between niche developments and regime technologies can be achieved.

1.4 Transition thinking on different levels

In transition studies, the so-called multi-level perspective is the common analysis tool for mapping the relevant levels of a transition project (see Figure 2). By observing the different levels at the same time, stabilising and destabilising forces and the dynamics between the different levels can be visualised. The three levels are those already introduced: (1) Landscape, (2) Regime and (3) Niches.

- The landscape (macro-level) is a representation of major social systems and the associated long-term changes, such as macroeconomics, culture, macropolitical developments and natural changes. These macro-trends change slowly and are therefore outside the direct influence of the incumbents of a regime. Landscape developments are the result of the ideas and actions of a large number of players. These changes create tension with the incumbents of the regime since they are forced to adapt to these macro-trends (Geels & Schot, 2007). Examples of landscape changes are climate change, population growth or long-term political policy.
- 2. The regime or sector (meso-level) represents a set of rules, institutions and technological developments that are common practice within a given area (e.g. food, mobility or housing). This leads to dominant rules, culture, knowledge, routines, power relations between the involved actors, technological developments and infrastructure that perpetuate a particular practice (Geels & Schot, 2007). These factors influence the actions of the incumbents and reflect the common practice in which social needs are met (de Haan & Rotmans, 2011).
- 3. The niches (micro-level) are the small and often 'protected' places where radical innovation often originates. Niches are companies, organisations or small networks of dedicated actors that develop innovative social, economic, technological or policy practices. Successful niche innovations provided they have sufficient scale put pressure on the regime (and ultimately on the landscape) to change. Competitive innovations ensure that a regime is replaced, while symbiotic innovations improve the regime's performance (Geels & Schot, 2007). Successful niche innovations can lead to disruption or technological adaptation of the regime.



Figure 2: Levels of transition thinking Source: Geels (2017)

What these three levels have in common is that there are observable, ongoing processes that take place at each level. These processes are referred to as transition pathways. These pathways are partly predictable, self-organising, path-dependent processes. In this sense, a transition path represents a strategy, a route towards a direction that can be chosen, which can be designed and developed in very different ways to achieve a certain transition goal. The table below gives an overview of the scientific thinking on transition paths and how this has developed over the past 15 years.

Berkhout et al. (2004)	Geels (2005)	Geels et al. (2007)	De Haan & Rotmans (2011)	Loorbach (2014)	PATHWAYS project (2015)
Endogenous renewal	Technological substitution	De-alignment and re-alignment	Reconstellation	Ideal typical transition	Pathway 0
Reorientation of trajectories	Broad transformation	Technological substitution	Empowerment	Disruptive transition	Pathway A
Emergent transformation		Transformation	Adaptation	Destructive transition	Pathway B
Purposive transition		Reconfiguration	Squeezed	Sustainable transition	
		Reproduction		Managed transition	

Table 1: Overview transition pathways

The overview shows that there are different perspectives on the nature of transition paths. But, the not-always-present explanation of the various terms does not create clarity on the definitions of transition paths. There is no clear typology, let alone a typology that can be made operational. In addition, the meaning given to terms by the various authors also differs. All this together means that there is no clarity about the design and structure of transition paths.

1.5 Transition management

In any case, the main message is that transitions are complex processes of change. The assumption here is that it is partly possible to design, stimulate and steer the direction of transitions. In purposive transitions, an extensive planning process takes place in which stakeholders jointly develop a vision and try to achieve this by using a transition agenda. Both planning and policy instruments are used in this purposive transition. On the contrary, an emergent transition consists of niche developments in which the government takes a reactive role and tries to steer the direction of the transition. In this case, the government only uses policy instruments to accelerate or slow down transitions.

1. Participatory tools	Sector-level roundtables Horizon scanning Delphi-method Participatory backcasting Participatory scenario construction
2. Design tools	Socio-technical scenario planning
3. Analytical tools and methods	Trend audits Scenario assessments Forecasting Policy stress testing Technological roadmapping
4. Stakeholder management tools	Stakeholder identification analysis Expert workshops

Table 2: Planning tools for transition management

For a purposive transition, the first step consists of planning the transition by creating a transition arena. By using a stakeholder identification tool, the most relevant stakeholders should be selected and invited for a stakeholder roundtable discussion to formulate the central societal problem. This is followed by the second step: developing a shared vision to develop support among stakeholders. Based on the vision, a transition agenda will be designed and tested using techniques such as backcasting, roadmapping and stress testing.

After planning the transition, the transition agenda can be executed into practice. The agenda will be used to design niche experiments of new technologies and business models, which will result in, among other things, icon projects and incubators. After this, successful niche developments can be selected and scaled up by means of structural projects supported by a consortium of business partners, knowledge institutes, the government and non-governmental organisations. In this phase, the current regime will also be destabilised to create a 'window of opportunity' for niche innovations. The niche challenges the regime, and depending on the diffusion of the niche innovation, the technological improvements with respect to regime technology, and changes in the landscape level, this leads to regime disruption or technological adaptation. The government can steer the transition by facilitating fiscal, economic and regulatory incentives for new sustainable technologies and reducing subsidies to regime technologies. There is a whole range of instruments available to shape this transition. Finally, this leads to stabilisation of the new regime, in which the government must try to adapt legislation and bring it into line with the public, sustainable interest, and evaluate whether the collective vision has been realised.

1. Investment tools	SubsidiesInvestmentsState guarantees
2. Partnership tools	Icon projectsStructural projects

3. Policy tools	Fiscal incentivesEconomic incentivesRegulatory incentives
4. Market development tools	 Enabling campaigns Encouraging campaigns Engagement campaigns Exemplification campaigns
5. Knowledge tools	 Expertise centres Information centres Education centres

Table 3: Policy instruments for transition management

In emergent transitions, the transition management strategy mainly consists of steering the direction of the transition. The first step is to use policy instruments such as legislation and economic incentives so that the government can influence which niche developments will be successful. The second step for the government is to create momentum for niche technologies through investments, subsidies and market development. After this, the government can use campaigns, incentives and sharing best practices to influence whether there will be regime disruption or adaptation. These adjustments can lead to a different outcome of the transition, which can either be in favour of or a disadvantage to the existing regime.

1.6 What is the current situation?

It is difficult to identify where and when current thinking about transitions started. But what is certain is that we can now look back on two decades of research and related projects (mainly within the EU) and publications. Together, these reflect that the core of a transition is the planning and design of a complex process based on phases in which the building up and breaking down of structures go hand in hand. This process can be set up in various ways using a range of tools, which can be chosen depending on the transition challenge. The planning and execution is driven by a dominant vision that is shared by the various parties involved. The execution of the process often shows a capricious and certainly not tightly 'controllable' pattern. Furthermore, publications on transitions show that, from a retrospective perspective, not all transitions turn out to be sustainable. It also turns out that quite a few transitions 'fade out' over time, get stuck or fail completely.

The inevitable conclusion is that there is an urgent 'gap' between 'desire and reality'. Existing systems no longer meet the standards, get stuck based on new rules, and receive sharp and growing social and political criticism. Current examples are now widely available (including agriculture, aviation, raw materials, energy, and construction) and their number is growing. Throughout all this, there is a clear call for sustainability (even if it is sometimes difficult to get a clear definition of what exactly is meant by sustainability).

1.7 Current demand for transition knowledge

At the national level, both purposive and emergent transitions are taking place. The Dutch government, in collaboration with the business community, has drawn up five transition agendas for the construction sector, agriculture, plastics, consumer goods and manufacturing industry. With the goal of fully circular production by 2050, the Netherlands wants to play a pioneering role in Europe. Another purposive transition is taking place in the 'Netherlands' adaption strategy to climate change. The Delta Plan for Spatial Adaptation (Deltaplan Ruimtelijke Adaptatie) and the National Adaptation Strategy (Nationale Adaptatie Strategie), among others, will provide targeted guidance for the adaptation process to the consequences of climate change. A more emergent transition is taking place in mobility. After years of experimenting with shared cars, green mobility and alternative means of transport, the mobility transition is gaining momentum. New partnerships such as the coalition Travelling Differently (Anders Reizen) and the Mobility Alliance (Mobiliteitsalliantie) reinforce the call for disruption of the regime. Also, the court decision on the Nitrogen Action Programme (Programma Aanpak Stikstof) will only accelerate the mobility transition (Bode et al., 2019). In the coming decades, knowledge and expertise on planning, managing and adjusting transitions will be needed to ensure that both purposive and emergent transitions contribute to a sustainable, circular and inclusive society.

In addition, a major movement is taking place at the European level, stimulated by the Green Deal and the Circular Economy Action Plan (CEAP). Its objective is to achieve a climate-neutral Europe by 2050. A total package of at least 100 billion euros in investment has been created to shape the green transition (European Commission, 2020). The Green Deal has a multi-sectoral approach and includes the energy, industrial, mobility and agriculture sectors. A targeted transition on this scale is unique in history, and represents one of the greatest European-level challenges for the coming decades.

TNO and transitions

TNO, as a public, not-for-profit organisation and in line with its statutory mission, wants to connect people and knowledge to create innovations that sustainably strengthen the competitiveness of companies and the welfare of society. To achieve this, together with industry and 'top sectors', TNO is developing new services and products that tap into new markets by, for example, being healthier, emitting less CO2, using fewer materials or producing clean energy. Other major challenges that TNO aims to tackle are the cost and quality of healthcare, the creation of a safe, liveable, sustainable and resilient society and high-quality employment. TNO is organised in nine units, each with its own and common societal challenges that often require system changes. Together, the various units focus on a broadly supported energy transition including a significant increase in solar power, large-scale wind power generation, an energy-producing built environment and a green chemical industry. By way of illustration, four routes to a CO2-neutral industry have been worked out by TNO:

1. Electrification of production processes (energy supply and feedstock), which is inevitable to make industry CO2 neutral.

2. Increasing the sustainability of heat management. Multiple value is created if the industrial heat pump is powered by sustainably-generated electricity.

3. Capture, storage and reuse of CO2.

4. By making industrial processes efficient and circular, they require less energy and fewer raw materials and release fewer emissions and waste materials.

In addition, TNO also wants to move towards a smart and sustainable logistics and mobility system, and ensure that data can be used to facilitate circular agriculture. For the climate, TNO is developing models to monitor the Paris agreements and tackle climate change.By developing not only (technical) in-depth knowledge, but also the ability to connect different knowledge domains, systems and societal sectors by integrating technical, social and policy innovations, TNO can contribute to realising both public and private impacts and thus contribute to the realisation of sustainable transitions.

2 Collaborative Business Models

2.1 Developments in the knowledge of business models

The central assumption in this paper is that the chances of a successful transition can greatly increase if the parties involved not only participate in the design and organisation of a transition from their own perspective, but actively and intentionally collaborate in a collaborative business model of sufficient scale, or what is assumed to be scalability. However, to reinforce this proposition, it is important to first explain the concepts of 'business model' and 'collaborative business model'. The term 'business model' has been used more and more often over the past two decades. In essence, a business model describes how an organisation creates value. It shows how an organisation is structured and shows what value is realised (described in the value proposition) and how this is achieved. In conventional theory, business models are in principle organisation-centric. Central is a single organisation and how this organisation creates value. Environmental and institutional factors influence how the specific business model can be structured. Also, the definition of value often involves a fairly narrow interpretation, namely financial value. Sustainability is not usually included in the traditional business model.

Analysis of the use of the term 'business model' reveals three different forms (Massa, Tucci and Afuah, 2017). The first is the business model as a descriptive archetype of how businesses operate in practice. Examples are 'razor & blade' (cheap core product, more expensive additional products), 'freemium' (product or service is offered free of charge, advanced functionalities are priced) or 'pay-per-use' (a fee per moment of use). The second form of use involves understanding the images of business logic that managers hold, as opposed to describing reality. The third form of use, which could be positioned between the two preceding ones, is that of a formal model that consists of elements and relationships. A well-known model is the Business Model Canvas, which was developed specifically from an organisation-centric perspective, but there are many other forms and examples.

In practice, the business model is used for various purposes (Al-Debei, Mutaz & Avison, 2010). The first is that of a means to create a shared perception between multiple people (or companies). For example: what activities are needed to deliver a service to a specific target group? The second purpose is that of operationalising a strategy. By specifying the elements of a business model, a clear picture is created of how the company intends to realise the strategy. The third purpose is to capture and use knowledge on business models. This enables users to compare business models and observe performance.

These forms find their origin in strategy, management and information systems. In this sense, it is not surprising that in these business models a central place is created for the financial-economic revenue capacity of a single organisation. In the light of sustainability and climate objectives, various elaborations and counter-movements have emerged in response to this purely financial economic perspective (Bocken et al., 2014; Geissdoerfer, Vladimirova & Evans, 2018). The aim here is to integrally incorporate sustainability objectives into the business model by applying a broader concept of value. The 'triple bottom line' (people, planet, profit) and 'multiple value creation' are well-known, but hard to operationalise concepts. This

school of thought is also known as 'Sustainable Business Models' (SBM). In this movement, the concept of servitisation (Product-Service System, PSS) is prominent (Tukker & Tischner, 2006).

2.2 Multiple value creation by collaboration

The responsibilities of a company towards the environment have been debated for decades. Supporters of a 'narrow vision' of value creation such as Friedman (1970) and Rappaport (1986) describe how the ultimate responsibility of a company is to create shareholder value. A 'broader vision' of value creation is given by Elkington (1997), Emerson (2000) and Visser & Kymal (2015), with the notion that companies should proactively create value for society by finding profitable solutions to social and environmental challenges.

The perspective on value creation makes a fundamental difference in designing a business model. Conventional business models are designed from the perspective of single, financial value creation within a company's value chains (Osterwalder & Pigneur, 2009). Conversely, new business models have an inter-organisational design with the aim of creating more than one value at a time. It is common to refer to this with the (abstract) trilogy of economic, environmental and social value (also known as people, planet and profit). As a result, the design of the business model takes a different approach and becomes community-centric, where value creation takes place through collaborations in hubs, networks and chains (Jonker & Faber, 2019). Stakeholders collectively identify complex, multidimensional problems to business and economic challenges. By looking at these (complex) problems from a collective perspective, stakeholders can take action and allocate the necessary resources (Kais & Islam, 2016).

In essence, the multiple value that is created in this way means that the participating organisations take greater responsibility towards society and nature. Companies proactively design the business model in such a way that it creates environmental, economic and social value for the community and network partners. The aim of the organisations is thus to solve problems within the domains of sustainability, circularity and inclusiveness. Because of the nature and complexity of these problems, close cooperation with other companies, stakeholders, communities and governments is required. New collaborative business models can help to achieve this collaboration and thus create multiple, collective and shared values.

2.3 Why collaborative business models?

Cooperation is essential in both the context of sustainability issues and in the light of increasing competition and market turbulence. This is further reinforced by globalisation, which increases the risks of not only individual companies, but also whole industries or regions (recently highlighted by the Covid-19 crisis). By explicitly focusing on cooperation, a company can strengthen its own competitive position, but also improve the position of the entire business ecosystem of which it is part. To safeguard the cooperation between different constituents, collaborative business models can ensure a shared interest between partners. These are business models in which multiple organisations that sometimes differ in type (industry, government, research and non-profit), and differ in position in the value chain (production, service, regulation), work together to create value. It requires a shift from organisation-centric thinking to thinking in networks (the business ecosystem). In this way, the business models of individual parties are better connected, thus avoiding sub-optimal revenue models. Costs and risks are shared between parties and dependency on third parties decreases, while the innovation capacity and market position increases. By working on collaborative business models, risks are spread and the positions of the individual company and the other companies within the business ecosystem are improved. But perhaps most importantly, companies can collaborate on sustainability issues.

How do you organise a collaborative business model?

There are various methods for collaboration within the business ecosystem to create a collaborative business model. These methods differ greatly in applicability and focus. Nevertheless, six core steps can be distilled from these methods to arrive at a collaborative business model:

- 1. **Initiation**: Identify and characterise the parties (and their relations in the network) that want to work towards a collaborative business model.
- 2. **Idea creation**: Generate creative and innovative ideas for creating the collaborative business model together through win-win value propositions.
- 3. **Innovation**: Exchange knowledge, develop business model concepts and define both actor roles and technical solutions.
- 4. **Evaluation**: Evaluate to ensure that the business model adds value to all actors.
- 5. **Implementation**: Create transition paths to achieve a marketable and profitable product or service that adds value to the whole ecosystem.
- Adaptation: Make adaptations to the existing business models of the individual parties to meet the requirements of the collaborative business model.

By following these steps, a focus on involving the different actors in the ecosystem is essential to making a successful collaborative business model work.



Figure 3: The process of collaborative business modelling *Source: Oukes et al. (2020)*

2.4 Scale as a critical condition

In the various approaches that exist regarding collaborative business models, it is striking that upscaling is underexposed. In more conventional business administration, there is quite some attention for scaling up. Usually, organic growth (from the existing organisation), strategic growth and growth through acquisitions are distinguished. However, these insights are less applicable when it comes to scaling up collaborative business models. In transition neither growth of individual organisations nor acquisition of small innovators by the larger players is the aim. Focus is intentional collaboration aimed at achieving shared (valuable) goals in line with the intended transition. However, it is expected that the direct inclusion of a scaling strategy in collaborative business model thinking increases the chances of creating a business ecosystem of sufficient mass to make the implementation a success. The further development of knowledge on scalability for specific collaborative business models therefore seems to be an important condition.

2.5 Collective value creation as the driving force of a transition

In traditional business model thinking, developments outside the value chain are often seen as external factors that cannot be influenced. These developments are only included in the business modelling process as an opportunity or threat, although they can have an enormous effect on both individual companies and the entire value chain. We are increasingly confronted with developments that have a significant impact on our existence and therefore also on business models. Not only do globalisation and digitisation continue to have a major impact on business, but new developments such as climate change, the depletion of natural resources and pandemics (with Covid-19 as an extreme example) also bring change. What these developments have in common, besides being volatile, uncertain and complex, is that they are major catalysts for transitions. This makes it risky to include these factors as only opportunities or threats in the business modelling process and thus gives even more weight to the need for cooperation in collaborative business models.

By using collaborative business models of sufficient scale or scalability and by working together with different parties within and outside of the value chain, it is possible to actively respond to the major challenges of our time. This not only strengthens the position of the individual company, but also that of the business ecosystem and accelerates the transition. Transition often starts with a new technology being developed in a niche, after which the new technology gets stuck more than once in the 'niche development' and fails to scale up to 'mainstream', regime level. This requires parties from different sectors (e.g. industry, government, research) to orchestrate and simultaneously take steps to change and innovate in order to achieve the scale necessary to contribute to transition. Given the legal, organisational and institutional challenges posed by international chains, an approach at the regional level seems most likely to succeed, preferably within a single institutional setting. If parties in a particular region can collaborate from the beginning with sufficient scale, and if this collaboration has an ideal-typical integral character, then the scale of transition and collective value creation will coincide.

In the scientific and professional literature, first steps have been taken in linking transition studies with (collaborative) business model thinking. It outlines the contours of how these business model processes can be linked to transition processes. The approach advocated in this paper aims to ensure that parties within a business ecosystem arrive at a collaborative business model of sufficient scale (preferably one that already has scale or is explicitly scalable from the beginning onwards), in such a way that it actively contributes to both shaping and catalysing the transition. A clear and concrete approach on how to develop such a collaborative business model for transition has not yet received sufficient attention in the current literature. In light of the question of giving concrete and practical shape to transitions, it is important to develop an approach that combines collaborative business model thinking with elements from transition studies, taking scale as a central focus.

3 The field

The previous chapter showed that the knowledge on collaborative business model design to facilitate transition is insufficiently developed. In an initial contribution to this knowledge base, a brief overview was made of recent cases in the Netherlands and Europe in which collaborative business models and transition studies could go hand in hand. These case studies were based on actual transitions. The ultimate goal is to use this preliminary knowledge base as a whole and to develop it into a set of instruments that can be used in new cases and thus catalyse transitions. In this chapter, by way of illustration, some transition cases are highlighted and described, followed by a brief analysis. Two cases in particular are highlighted as potential 'revealing cases': they are seen as examples of transitions that go hand in hand with business model developments. This can be used to illustrate the knowledge needed to develop a practical approach to collaborative business models for transition.

3.1 Overview of NL and EU cases

To arrive at an overview of cases, a set of criteria was used, as described below. These criteria are important to arrive at a certain uniformity of transition cases. Practice shows that what is meant by such a case can vary considerably by country, region and case:

- Multi-actor environment: The change involves more than one type of actor: several parties are involved, such as the private sector, the government and citizens or 'customers/consumers' of the aforementioned. This criterion is essential because it makes it possible to distinguish between transitions from regular trajectories between two private parties.
- 2. An urban/regional/national sphere of influence: The transition has at least an urban 'scope'. This criterion creates a separation between smaller changes and larger, scalable transitions. It also ensures that the created collective value is 'distributed' in the same environment.
- 3. **Duration of 5-10 years**: The transition has a reasonable maturity and therefore consists not only of planning, but has also reached an implementation phase. This criterion, like the sphere of influence, also has to do with the scalability of the change taking place.
- 4. A sector-specific focus: The transition focuses on a particular sector (e.g. energy, logistics or chemicals) or a combination of these. This criterion is based on how in today's world, things are organised in domains (e.g. the 'logistics domain' or 'the care domain'). If a transition extends across one or more domains, this is a signal for a certain scale.
- 5. Effectiveness: The transition has a goal or endpoint that the actors collectively work towards. Often, but not always, this is a more comprehensive social goal in which sustainability plays a role. A distinction can be made between process- and purpose-driven transition. In this inventory, we assume that purposive transitions are easier to identify and monitor.
- 6. **Multiple value creation**: The various actors create more than just financial value. This may involve an implicit or explicit shift towards using collaborative business models. In this inventory, this criterion is important

because it assumes that collective value creation is essential for a successful transition. This is in contrast to a transition where no collective values are created.

7. **Significant change**: There is a fundamental change in a (sub)system. This criterion explicitly excludes optimisation and improvement processes that preserve the current system.

In addition to the above-mentioned points, various cases were examined to see whether there was a transition path. Because we worked with available literature and case studies (so no new research was set up to find cases and turn them into case studies), this last criterion was treated with care.

Based on these criteria, two inventories have been carried out to identify several current examples. The first inventory focused on European projects. This resulted in a long-list of 34 cases. On the basis of an in-depth analysis, this has been narrowed down to five appealing cases. The second inventory focuses on current transition cases within TNO. To this end, interviews were held with people within the various TNO fields of work (Energy, Logistics, Defence & Safety, ICT, Construction and Circular Economy, and Sustainability). This resulted in a long-list of 14 cases. Moreover, in a second term, a more in-depth analysis was made which also resulted in five cases.

These five selected European and five TNO cases are briefly presented below in the form of a table (see Table 4). The collection of cases as identified so far (possibly complemented with new information or sources) will be used in a separate and concise analysis. This analysis is made to clarify the role of business models in these transitions, and to assess whether and to what extent specific transition paths are being followed consciously or unconsciously.

3.2 Overview of EU-cases

In various parts of Europe, there are long-term and sometimes large-scale projects which can be typified as 'transitions in action' based on the above criteria. This sounds more self-evident than it is in reality. In some countries and regions, it is culturally easier to work on and experiment with (social, institutional, economic) change than in others. Moreover, the original list that formed the basis for the summary below only looked at projects that provide (up-to-date) information in English.

Name	Transition	Sector	Sphere of influence	Duration
Samsø Island (DK)	Energy autarky	Energy	Island	20 years
Project Zero (DK)	Completely CO ₂ -neutral community	Energy	Region	10 years
Bio-energy village Jühnde (DE)	Sustainable living environment	CO ₂ -reduction	Village	4 years

Biomass Energy (FI and SE)	Sustainable bio-energy	Energy	City/region	2 years
Eccentric, Civitas (EU)	Sustainable mobility	Mobility	City	6 years

Table 4: Overview of transition cases in the EU

Analysis shows that two of these five projects have been running for a decade and are ongoing. It is striking that in this collection of cases, a relatively large number are stimulated within the framework of EU programmes. It is almost self-evident for the cases that a multi-actor approach is taken in which the actors consciously adopt different roles over time. Furthermore, the first two selected projects have a clear, explicit purpose: CO2 neutrality or energy autarky. These are truly 'revealing cases', in which collaborative business models and a sustainable transition intentionally come together. An example of a close call to being a revealing case is the Samsø trajectory. In this example, a series of interconnected phases of change over time are visible, which contribute to the transition to an energy-autonomous island. This case is briefly explained below.

Project Samsø (DK)

Samsø is possibly the longest-running integral sustainability project in Europe. It is an island and municipality in the Danish region of Midtjylland and has a population of 3,724 (reference date 2017). The island thrives on tourism, agriculture and the supply of green electricity. Samsø is also known in Denmark for its potatoes. By working intensively together as a population and government, and by working towards a common goal, the island, led by a few creative, enterprising and green spirits, was ready to be completely self-sufficient in energy in just a few years. In the 20th century, Samsø faced a steady decline in population. The islanders left for other regions and saw no future on the island. The deliberately chosen sustainable approach was created to turn that tide, and with success: since 2019, Samsø has been able to call itself the most sustainable municipality in the world.

This success is based on local wind energy and other renewable energy sources, making Samsø the largest CO2-neutral residential community in the world. The sustainable movement started in the 1990s when a number of inhabitants decided to generate their own energy to become autarkic. For the first time, they raised money to have windmills built for green electricity which they would consume themselves. Now, 20 years later, 100% of the necessary energy on the island is generated by renewable sources and the surpluses are sold to nearby Jutland. About 75% of the heat demand is generated with biomass and solar heat. Furthermore, a quarter of the mobility fleet is now electric. In most cases, it turns out that people can save 40–50% on their energy costs. Most of the investments are recouped in5-10 years, which allows for substantial savings for the inhabitants in the following years. This is made possible by the goodwill of the banks, which have been involved since the beginning of the project, to lend money to the inhabitants for them to make green investments. These investments also applied to people with lower incomes. These investments also applied to people with lower

incomes whose applications for financial support from the bank in order to purchase (for example) part of a windmill, were generally approved.

Since 2011, a new plan has been developed stating that the island has the goal of becoming completely free of fossil fuels. This master plan is based on seven new objectives. The ferries will run on biogas, which means that biogas plants are needed to become self-sufficient. Large vehicles for transport such as tractors and trucks will also run on biogas. Furthermore, public transport (buses) will run on electricity. Also, new imported cars will be electric as much as possible, starting with the vans and homecare providers. In addition, there are several major energy renovation projects in which, among other things, the electricity consumption of farmers is examined. Finally, a system of two electricity tariffs will be set up. Energy use at night then becomes much cheaper than during the day, which contributes to the stability of the network. This is also advantageous for the electric cars that charge at night. Samsø is now working on the third version of its transition plan. To support citizens and businesses, a transition academy has been set up (Energieakademiet) which provides advice, research and communication (see: https://energiakademiet.dk) (text compiled from various public sources).

3.3 Overview of TNO cases

TNO also contributes to various projects to transitions that bring a sustainable society closer. In its broad field of work, several cases can be identified in which collaborative business models implicitly play a role in shaping these transitions. Table 5 below lists five of these cases that have been identified based on an internal qualitative review.

Name	Transition	Sector	Sphere of influence	Duration
CILOLAB	Zero-emission urban logistics	Logistics	City	6 years
Porthos/H- Vision	Hydrogen and CCS in a new energy system	Energy	City/region	3 years (previous projects started in 2011)
Lifestyle4Health	From curative to preventive healthcare	Healthcar e	Region and nationwide	4 years
Chemelot	A climate-neutral integrated chemistry site	Industry	Site and region	2 years
VoltaChem	Electrification of the chemical industry	Chemistry	Region	6 years

Table 5: Overview of TNO transition cases

The analysis shows that all five projects mentioned above use a multi-actor approach, usually in a triple helix context. All projects also have a certain explicit or implicit purpose. Multiple value creation and striving for a significant rotation of the existing system is visible in all cases. However, there is as yet no real 'revealing case' in which collaborative business models and a sustainable transition intentionally come together. The example within TNO that comes closest to a revealing case is the Porthos Project. In this example, we see changing collaborative business models that contribute to the transition to a CO2 free Rotterdam port area. This case is briefly explained below; Appendix A gives a more detailed description of the other cases mentioned above.

Project Porthos/H-Vision

In the Porthos Project, preparations are being made for a project to transport and store CO2, coming from the industry in the Port of Rotterdam in empty gas fields under the North Sea (Carbon Capture Utilisation and Storage, or CCUS). The aim is to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. H-Vision focuses on the production of blue hydrogen, which is made from natural gas and residual gases from the refinery in the Port of Rotterdam. These two projects in the crossover between the process industry and energy sectors are seen as a project in which the Porthos organisation creates the infrastructure and the organisation H-Vision makes use of it. In these projects various parties, mainly from the Rotterdam port area and from the gas and hydrogen chain, cooperate intensively with (semi-)government bodies and knowledge institutes. Both projects have been running for several years now, but have several precursors. The common goal is to contribute to a substantial CO2 reduction by 2030.

The precursor of Porthos called ROAD, ailed, partly due to excessive costs. One of the lessons learnt was that the project should construct a public infrastructure that other companies can make use of. At H-Vision, blue hydrogen is produced as a transfer to green hydrogen (which does not release CO2). The success of H-Vision requires the large-scale use of hydrogen by industry. This requires substantial process adjustments for the industry. If the transition is to succeed, H-Vision cannot be seen in isolation from Porthos, since the CO2 generated in the production of blue hydrogen can, thanks to Porthos, be transported and stored sustainably. In addition to the ecological and financial value creation of this transition, it will also increase the self-sufficiency of the Port of Rotterdam and, in time, the Dutch industry. The infrastructure that is being built and the installations that are being converted will soon also be used for green hydrogen and thus reduce CO2 emissions even further.

3.4 Short reflection on the cases

On the basis of the inventory study, several European and TNO cases have been found that meet the criteria for transition mentioned in this chapter to a greater or lesser extent, and work (not always intentional) on collective business models. Two short overviews were made of the cases found and two illustrative cases were explained, namely the cases of the island of Samsø (Denmark) and the Porthos Project (Port of Rotterdam).

The fact that so many potential cases were found in a relatively short period of time - both external and internal - is an indication that working on transitions is a hot topic. However, in most cases, there is no conscious use of (collaborative) business model development as a process (or instrument) to achieve fundamental changes - with the possible exception of Samsø. After analysis of the cases, there is reason to assume that changes are implicitly being made involving other business models, but this has not been deliberately designed or implemented in this way. The 'revealing cases' do show that changes are taking place in the way in which (collective) value creation is handled. A future, more in-depth case study should clarify how this has developed over time. Nevertheless, these cases give a nice indication that practical knowledge about setting up collaborative business models is scarce, but does exist. This probably means that in projects that have been labelled 'transitions', valuable energy and time is lost because of a lack of input from previous experiences and the help of already-available useful instruments. Or as the Dutch saying goes, 'The wheel is constantly being reinvented'. Precisely at this intersection is the approach chosen here: to work on transition processes and to merge these one by one with working on collective value creation, which takes the form of collaborative business models.

Processes to develop collaborative business models

Processes to achieve transitions in a sector

Figure 4: Focus of the research

4 Working together on transition by using collective value creation

Now that the current knowledge on transitions, business models and collaborative business models has been set out in the previous chapters, and a brief outline has been made of the activities in practice in the field of transition (using collaborative business models to a greater or lesser extent), it is now important to link the two domains and to initiate a process approach to transitions based on collaborative business models.

4.1 Different approaches to transition

Studies on transitions can be divided into two main approaches. The first is typified as top-down, the second as bottom-up. In a top-down transition, a normative, collective vision is created and transition management techniques are applied as a guiding process to achieve the collective goal. There are several phases in transition management, but how they are realised in practice often remains unclear. This is why transition management focuses primarily on guiding purposive transitions to steer them in a sustainable direction that serves the public interest. Bottom-up, emergent transitions, often involve reactive anticipation on external developments. The role of the government is to set out frameworks and conditions for the transition. Studies into emergent transitions often focus on how existing or new companies can search for scale and scalability from niche developments.

	Purposive transition	Emergent transition
Approach	Top-down	Bottom-up
Driving factor	Vision-driven transition	Technology-facilitated transition
Role of the government	Proactive	Reactive
Goals	Normative goals such as sustainability, circularity and inclusivity	Technological improvement of the regime to create a better fit with societal demands
Examples	Energy transition, circular economy	Mobility transition, digitalisation, platform economy

Table 6: Top-down and bottom-up transition approaches

Not entirely surprisingly, many transitions get stuck over time. Problems such as vested interests, a risk-averse institutional context and poorly accommodating financial infrastructure play a role. After all, it is about critically examining existing positions and practices and, where necessary, replacing them in the light of a collaborative task to arrive at different forms of value creation. Timing plays an important role in this process. Parties lose interest if it takes too long to achieve

results. The disruption, the complexity, but also the unpredictability of the economy and society make it difficult to maintain a single course for ten years or more, even if it is 'only' by following a broad outline. Consistency is a crucial factor in the effective realisation of a transition. But perhaps the most important thing is that collective value creation is the core starting and implementation point for the intended transitions.

Last but not least, there remains the critical question of whether the dual approach of top-down or bottom-up developed so far should be replaced by another, possibly more successful, approach. After all, working from a governance-perspective (institutional frameworks) or upscaling from the niche (business-perspective) sometimes seems to get in each other's way. After all, there must always be simultaneous work on transition at different levels (multi-level approach) and it should be executed by different parties that take on different roles. This happens over time, in a process in which dismantling and building-up take shape.

4.2 Towards a process approach to transitions

The above leads to the observation that an approach is needed that not only looks at the transition from the perspective of either the landscape (top-down) or the niche (bottom-up), but also explicitly seeks a connection between niche, regime and landscape in a multi-level, multi-stakeholder approach. A collaborative business model approach is especially suitable for this and can be used in three different ways to facilitate the transition.

The Collaborative Business Model as an instrument in the technical niche: Many technical niche developments get stuck in their search for scale. The technical niche development itself can be very valuable, but due to the lack of a feasible and innovative business model, the technical niche development does not succeed in achieving sufficient scale to break down the present regime. By adopting a collaborative business model approach focused on scaling up, the necessary partners for successfully developing a technical niche in the business ecosystem are explicitly included. This increases the competitive position of both the niche and the entire value chain, which increases the chance of achieving sufficient scale to break down and replace the current regime. This, however, does not apply to all technical niche developments. In the case of radical and disruptive innovations, it is sometimes better to exclude regime incumbents to be more successful in disrupting the regime.

The Collaborative Business Model as a non-technical niche innovation: Some non-technical niche developments are based on a new service model, not a technical innovation. Think, for example, of 'mobility-as-a-service' providers, which offer services to move between locations instead of offering a means of transport. Technological developments serve as enablers rather than drivers. Non-technical niche developments do not always succeed in achieving sufficient scale to break the regime. A collaborative business model approach ensures that the necessary partners join at an early stage, participate in the development and share in the success of the new business model. This increases the chance of success in achieving sufficient scale. Again, this is not necessary or feasible for all nontechnical niche developments, such as disruptive business models that can in themselves initiate a considerable transition.

The Collaborative Business Model as a challenge of the socio-technical regime: By defining a project within a certain sector that has scale from the outset, the current regime can be challenged immediately since the niche development and upscaling phases can be skipped. Fictitious but realistic examples are the organisation of closed plastic cycles for provinces, or the creation of a sand and concrete cycle based on demolition waste within a large municipality to construct 30,000 new houses over a period of ten years. As a result, a process of transition begins with a search for the scale appropriate to the transition task and the parties involved at the start. This takes time and investment in human (organisational) energy and, where necessary, relevant technology. Last but not least, process funding or in-kind contributions are required. All this argues in favour of defining projects in sectors that can give transitions a 'boost' because they have been scaled up from the outset. A collaborative business model makes such collaboration possible.

On all three levels, a collaborative business model approach can shape transitions, partly based on a collectively-chosen direction. However, integrating collaborative business models in a transition process requires a much more practical, instrumental approach to transition management to be effective. This creates an approach that can tentatively be referred to as 'collaborative transition management'.

4.3 Making transition and collaboration business models concrete

Collaborative transition management seeks the balance between purposive and emergent transitions, in which a formulation of long-term strategic goals is combined with scaled regional and/or local initiatives in specific sectors (e.g. mobility, energy, construction or food) from the outset. Both processes contribute to the reduction and redesign of structures, cultures, institutions and related practices in a specific sector. The approach advocated here should result in the selection and design of so-called 'icon projects'. This is understood to mean projects that set an example in terms of design, layout and implementation.

In collaborative transition management, the three levels — landscape, regime and niche — work together to achieve a shared vision. Using a discovery and cocreation process, the parties try to design the transition from different roles. Working with each other on this requires long-term involvement of the participating parties. Together, different parties therefore try to arrive at a collaborative business model at different levels to increase sustainability in society. By combining the six steps of collaborative business models the steps from the transition literature a first proposal towards a new roadmap for collaborative transition management is developed:

- 1. **Initiation phase**: Relevant stakeholders concerning a transition issue are brought together by means of roundtable discussions. This forms an innovation network in which, on the basis of a collective social problem setting, new solutions are sought that solve these complex problems.
- Vision development phase: Stakeholders develop a collective vision of collective value creation for the transition issue through one or more meetings and flanking activities (e.g. workshops, working visits, brainstorming).

- Exploratory phase: In this phase, the consequences of the various transition paths for achieving the collective vision are explored. Ideas are formed for niche experiments and proposals are made for icon projects. Objectives and ideas are translated into a transition agenda, whether or not supported by a research, investment and education agenda.
- 4. **Experimentation phase**: Experiments with collaborative business models can be developed on a smaller scale to test the viability and scalability of niche developments. By exchanging knowledge in incubators and knowledge centres, best practices are shared between actors. Intermediate evaluations take place to check whether the implementation creates the promised value for the different parties involved.
- 5. Acceleration phase: Successful collaborative business models and related tools are scaled up in this phase and marketed into a profitable product or service. In addition, institutional pressures are initiated where necessary to create new windows of opportunity in the regime, in order to successfully introduce new technology, systems and collaborative business models.
- 6. **Regime adaptation or disruption phase**: The new collaborative business models and sustainable technologies challenge the regime, which could lead to a regime change. On the one hand, the new technology or business models can lead to regime adaptation, by improving existing business models of incumbents to meet societal demands. This leads to technological adaptation and collaboration with the regime. Conversely, collaborative business models that have a disruptive nature could disrupt the regime, leading to a new regime.
- 7. **Stabilisation phase**: A new or adapted regime has come into place. New rules, structures, cultures and attitudes are needed to create alignment of the regime with its environment. The transition process is evaluated (again) with the parties involved and, where necessary, plans are made for changing the regime or starting a new transition.

The essence of this seven-step approach is that, based on a collective vision, an agenda of niche experiments (preferably directly to scale) are developed. In time, this should result in incubators and icon projects. After this, these successful niche developments (which do not yet have a scale) can be selected and scaled up by a consortium of industry, knowledge institutes, governmental- and non-governmental organisations. The government can steer this transition process by creating fiscal, economic and regulatory incentives for sustainable technologies and reducing subsidies to regime technologies. Ultimately, this will lead to a new regime, on condition that the government has revised the legislation and brought it in line with the public, sustainable interest.



Figure 5: Phase model of transitions *Source: Loorbach (2018)*

5 Outline of a research agenda

The recent literature review, carried out as part of this publication, shows that many transition studies are abstract, historicising, and above all descriptive in nature. This means that a transition process is often analysed in retrospect. Such a description might nicely show how a process actually went. However, designing a future transition process with different parties and implementing that transition is a different story. There is currently a lack of practical building blocks to make the design and implementation of a transition process in a particular domain as concrete as possible, with the associated concepts, instruments and roles.

Within the framework of this Working Paper - in addition to a literature study - a consultation of actors (teachers, professors, PhD students) working at Dutch educational and research institutions was conducted. Unfortunately, the time was not available to make such an inventory in Europe. Using a snowball method, more than thirty lecturers, researchers and PhD students (who made up the majority) were identified who are to some extent involved in business models in the light of transition. This method continued until it no longer yielded any new names. It can be concluded from this that it is a relatively small research community. Publications and/or research involving a combination of transitions and business models are scarce. The idea was that the identified members of the community-of-science would meet at a workshop and share knowledge and experience. However, because of the Covid-19 pandemic, this could not take place. Instead, there was a half-day virtual working conference with about 15 participants. Unfortunately, this resulted in less concrete output than originally planned. But it was clear that the willingness to participate in a community-of-science on this subject is great. Bringing together researchers from different disciplines with different research questions was seen as very valuable to the participants and researchers.

5.1 Balancing between fundamental and applied research

The societal challenges that are central to transitions by definition require adjustments to a socio-technical system. This means that the ball is not only in the court of the business community, but also of governments, politicians, research and educational institutions, and citizens in society, and that requires innovation and integration in both the technical and societal fields. The overview of the field of transition studies and collaborative business models presented in previous chapters shows that a number of fundamental and applied issues remain unanswered. At the same time, the overview of cases in the field (chapter 3) shows that in practice there is a great need for applicable knowledge.

This practical knowledge will also have to be developed into practice. By definition, working on transition, and thus on solving complex problems, requires cooperation between multiple actors across different projects (whether or not scaled up from the outset). The problems addressed in these projects are by definition complex and urgent. Solutions cannot be developed and tested in a lab closed off from the outside world, but will largely have to be tried out and adapted in practice. An important characteristic of solutions is that they create value in different areas for all actors involved.

Developing a research agenda requires a hybrid strategy in which fundamental knowledge is distilled 'from' current practice, and in which simultaneously applicable knowledge is developed and tested in — and used for — the same practice. This can be done by building up a portfolio of transition cases that are 'more mature' and transition cases that are a bit younger. By studying these, insight can be gained into issues such as roles, phases, instruments and other tools. This creates a solid basis for knowledge exchange between supply and demand. This can also be done by programming immediately usable knowledge applications and knowledge development in parallel with each other. This can be done by learning from each other and embracing the development of transitions as a collective challenge.

5.2 The research challenge: operationalisation of collaborative business models as transition paths

Transitions are seen, in the context of this publication, as search-and-development processes in evolving complex socio-technical systems. It takes a long-term commitment to realise these processes, and success is not guaranteed. There is a 'Valley of Death' threat, not only due to the inability to obtain funding or demand, but also due to a lack of support and coordination with the necessary parties, unchangeable regulations, unfitting culture, resistance to change by parties with vested interests, and so on. Nevertheless, we believe that a transition process can to a certain extent be designed and, albeit in moderation, can be steered.

In chapter 4.2 we presented the collaborative business model as (1) a niche transition instrument, (2) a non-technical niche innovation and (3) a challenger to the socio-technical regime. Each of these three forms has its own characteristics, challenges and approach. In (1), the uncertainty regarding the operation of the technological innovation (and thus a dominant linear philosophy from idea, to lab, to pilot, to market), the business model and scaling up to regime scale are central. This means that the phasing out of the current regime is part of the challenge. In (2) the same challenges apply, with the exception that availability of technology does not apply. For this reason, this strategy could be a solution that can be implemented in a shorter period of time. In (3), innovation is shaped by the regime. This means that scale is part of the focus from the outset, and that actors have more control over the dismantling of the dominant logic. At the same time, this also implies that different types of stakeholders that want to participate have by definition an interest in the status quo. This ranges from shareholders to regional authorities (employment). The research assignments are as follows: How can you support and realise the development of these collective business models? When do you choose one of these three types and can this change over time? What is the contribution of each of these to the transition and how can you maximise their impact?

In chapter 4.1 it was argued that transition paths require moderation and require the taking on of different roles by involved parties. Here, such 'paths' are seen as partially predictable, self-organising, path-dependent processes that shape a transition.

The research task is to develop, apply and evaluate a set of approaches that help to develop, implement and effectuate collaborative business models for the various transition paths.

In order to give direction to this dual strategy, which must produce both fundamental and applied knowledge at the same time, several research tasks are identified:

- 1. Which collaborative business models exist and which are most suitable for different transition paths?
- 2. What methodical and instrumental support does the development and realisation of these collaborative business models require?
- 3. How can a clearer classification (typology) be made of different transition paths and their underlying building blocks and phases?
- 4. How do the different transition paths relate to each other? To what extent can synergy be achieved to make their contribution to the transition as effective as possible?
- 5. What tools are available to shape different transition paths, what is the relationship between them, and what are possible gaps that should be filled?
- 6. How can a transition-following system be developed in which transitions are followed and compared over the years across countries and sectors?
- 7. How can the possible theoretical impact of the proposed systematic practical knowledge be used to contribute at a more fundamental level to transition studies and the underlying systems-thinking?

This is certainly not an exhaustive list of research questions, but rather a list that provides an adequate indication of the nature and scope of the questions that need to be answered as effectively as possible in the research agenda.

5.3 Developing a practical and methodical TNO-approach

Above what we want to accomplish is described: a practice-oriented methodical approach that can be used by various actors for the development and realisation of collaborative business models embedded in transition paths that effectively promote a transition. How to do this concretely and systematically is based on so-called progressive insights and knowledge. This knowledge would indicate how people can take concrete steps within a particular transition path in practice and what instruments they can use to do so. To achieve this, various other types of knowledge are required. A distinction is made here between a number of building blocks in a systems-based approach.

- 1. What are good, and less good, practical examples in the context of the different transition paths? Clear, accessible and recognisable practical examples help to study and understand collaborative business models.
- 2. What is a suitable framework of elements and relationships that connect transition paths with collaborative business models, in such a way that practical cases can be described and analysed?
- Can certain archetypes of collaborative business models be distinguished? Archetypes typify common practical situations and can contribute to better 'framing' and the development of transition cases.

- 4. Which factors in a certain domain or sector influence the choices for a collaborative business model? Understanding how choices are made helps in making deliberate choices in ongoing transitions.
- 5. What contribution(s) do collaborative business models make to the transition? Which performance indicators can be used to provide insight into this contribution? Insight into this contribution helps to make the right choices.

It is clear that these questions concerning transition paths are complex, dynamic and long-term in nature. Achieving transitions is challenging for a reason. In order to achieve a transition as effectively as possible, fundamental and practice-oriented research is also required. This can be achieved in ongoing cases, by linking transition cases with research and implementation capacity. This will create a focused research community that — supported by a back office — is embedded in an education and dissemination structure, ensuring the development of a unique body of knowledge around transitions. It goes without saying that this can only be achieved by collaborating with existing educational and research institutions in the Netherlands and abroad.

TNO has now built up a collection of several dozen relevant transition cases and an informal network of PhD students, university lecturers and researchers at relevant intersections of research topics in the Netherlands. This may be a good basis for looking at ongoing research together, but it is not yet sufficient to realise the above ambition. We therefore propose to go a step further and to develop a TNO Transition Academy (working title) in which education and research in this field will be accommodated for a number of years.

5.4 Towards a development plan

This Working Paper has briefly outlined a number of concepts around collaborative business models and developed an approach on how these can be used in the design of transitions. The core task is to focus, organise, search and develop instruments for sector-specific processes to arrive at collective business models in that sector. The essence is and remains the joint search for new (inter-organisational and institutional) forms of value creation. To do this collectively could be considered a transition in itself. The proposed further development will, by means of a methodology (step-by-step plan), provide a range of suitable instruments that can be used to better analyse and organise the process of designing sector-specific transitions.

The aim is to develop a research project over a period of four years. The approach is to develop a methodology, on the basis of five important building blocks, including the tools and instruments. These are briefly described:

- 1. The search for and design of a number of multi-year projects (two to three) and the associated stakeholders and sponsors, supported by a back-office that takes care of, among other things, organisation, coordination, research, education and information diffusion.
- 2. The creation and organisation of a competent interdisciplinary support team (staffing) and a scientific and practice-oriented advisory board (the latter can be separate or jointly this is to be debated).

- The creation and operationalisation of a short- and long-term research agenda that is filled on the basis of concrete experiences and actual questions.
- 4. The systematic collection of experiences with creating and designing project specific transitions (in a positive and negative sense). This can take the form of Policy Briefs, White Papers, working documents, animations, scientific articles and dissertations.
- 5. On the basis of research and practical experience, designing various project-/sector-specific transition paths, which instruments are required and what role collaborative business models can play in this. This results in a comprehensive 'toolkit' and forms the core of the proposed research project.
- Setting up (curriculum development and staffing) and operationalising (looking for participants with different approaches and ambitions) of a TNO Transition Academy from the outset (see below: unique TNO approach).
- 7. Bringing all parties together at least once a year in an (international) 'work conference' in which experiences, instruments and progress of projects are discussed.

5.5 The unique TNO approach: effectively realising transitions together

Against the background of this memorandum and the research agenda it contains, it is advisable to strengthen knowledge and competencies within TNO on socioorganisational transition and to systematically link them to the existing technologically-oriented knowledge. This could result in a 'TNO Transition Academy'. The design and organisation of such an academy can be set up from three perspectives that are not mutually exclusive:

- 1. Improving the 'general' level of managing transitions among TNO employees. This involves equipping them with practically-oriented concepts, approaches and skills.
- In consultation with a number of relevant institutes for higher education, the creation of say 15 to 18 PhD positions (with a duration of four to five years) for TNO employees who can work part-time (three days a week) but linked to concrete projects on a dissertation at the intersection of fundamental and applied research.
- Selecting a number of transition projects/objects to work with the parties involved (including but certainly not limited to companies, ministries, NGOs, TO2 institutions) to address, organise and direct these transitions. This can already be seen in practice under headings such as 'Living Labs' or 'Transition Areas'.

The idea is to work on a structural long-term approach with a group of stakeholders on a project that is scaled right from the start. Working on collaborative business models in order to give shape to transition is central to this idea. Together, the stakeholders set up action-oriented research in which learning, and applying what they have learned in practice, go hand in hand. Short- and long-term feedback loops are a recurring element, both in the educational situation and in practice.

5.6 Call to Action

Given TNO's ambition to be a 'Thought Leader', it is right for TNO to take the lead when it comes to 'tough' social issues. As an organisation, TNO houses an overwhelming arsenal of technical knowledge on raw resources, materials and systems. That knowledge alone is not sufficient to arrive at other system designs. In addition to technical knowledge, this also requires institutional, organisational and legal knowledge, brought together from an integral perspective. Taking the initiative is the role that suits TNO especially in this day and age.



6 Bibliography

Academic references

Adner, R. (2012). The wide lens: A new strategy for innovation. Penguin UK.

Al-Debei, Mutaz M., and David Avison (2010). Developing a unified framework of the business model concept. European Journal of Information Systems, 19(3), 359-376.

Avelino, F., & Wittmayer, J. M. (2016). Shifting power relations in sustainability transitions: a multi-actor perspective. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 18(5), 628-649.

Berkhout, F., Smith, A., & Stirling, A. (2004). Socio-technological regimes and transition contexts. In Elzen, B., Geels, F. & Green, K. (Eds) System innovation and the transition to sustainability: Theory, evidence and policy, pp. 48-75.

Bocken, N. M., Short, S. W., Rana, P., & Evans, S. (2014). A literature and practice review to develop sustainable business model archetypes. Journal of Cleaner Production, 65, 42-56.

Bode et al. (2019). Staat van Transitie: Dynamiek in Mobiliteit, Klimaatadaptatie en Circulaire Economie. DRIFT, Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam (in Dutch only). https://drift.eur.nl/app/uploads/2020/02/Staat-van-Transitie-Dynamiek-in-Mobiliteit-Klimaatadaptatie-en-Circulaire-Economie.pdf

de Haan, J. H., & Rotmans, J. (2010). Patterns in transitions: understanding complex chains of change. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 78(1), 90-102.

Eames, M., & McDowall, W. (2010). Sustainability, foresight and contested futures: exploring visions and pathways in the transition to a hydrogen economy. Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 22(6), 671-692.

Elkington, J. (1997). Cannibals with Forks: The Triple Bottom Line of the 21st Century Business. Oxford (UK): Capstone Publishing Ltd.

Emerson, J. (2000). The nature of returns: a social capital markets inquiry into elements of investment and the blended value proposition. Harvard Business School Social Enterprise, Working Paper, 1(17).

European Commission (2019) Annex to the Communication on the European Green Deal Roadmap - Key actions. COM(2019) 640. Retrieved from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/european-green-deal-communication-annex-roadmap_en.pdf</u>

Freeman, R. E. (1984). Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Marshfield: Pitman Publishing.

Friedman, M. (1970). A theoretical framework for monetary analysis. Journal of Political Economy, 78(2), 193-238.

Geels, F. W., & Kemp, R. (2000). Transities vanuit sociotechnisch perspectief. Maastricht, MERIT. (in Dutch only)

Geels, F. W., & Schot, J. (2007). Typology of socio-technical transition pathways. Research Policy, 36(3), 399-417.

Geels, F. W., Schwanen, T., Sorrell, S., Jenkins, K., & Sovacool, B. K. (2018). Reducing energy demand through low carbon innovation: A socio-technical transitions perspective and thirteen research debates. Energy Research & Social Science, 40, 23-35.

Geissdoerfer, M., Vladimirova, D., & Evans, S. (2018). Sustainable business model innovation: A review. Journal of Cleaner Production, 198, 401-416.

Haxeltine, A., Whitmarsh, L., Bergman, N., Rotmans, J., Schilperoord, M., & Kohler, J. (2008). A Conceptual Framework for Transition Modelling. International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development, 3(1), 93.

Jonker, J., & Faber, N. (2019). Business Models for Multiple Value Creation: Exploring Strategic Changes in Organisations Enabling to Address Societal Challenges. In Sustainable Business Models (pp. 151-179). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.

Kais, S., & Islam, M. (2016). Community capitals as community resilience to climate change: conceptual connections. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(12), 1211.

Loorbach, D. A. (2018). Adaptief sturen in transities. Adaptief Bestuur, 63. (in Dutch only)

Loorbach, D., & Oxenaar, S. (2018) Counting on Nature. DRIFT. Retrieved from <u>https://drift.eur.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Counting-on-Nature.-Transitions-to-a-natural-capital-positive-economy.pdf</u>

Loorbach, D., Frantzeskaki, N., & Avelino, F. (2017). Sustainability transitions research: transforming science and practice for societal change. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 42, 599-626.

Massa, L., Tucci, C.L., & Afuah, A., (2017). "A critical assessment of business model research." Academy of Management Annals 11.1: 73-104.

Nevens, F., Frantzeskaki, N., Gorissen, L., & Loorbach, D. (2013). Urban Transition Labs: co-creating transformative action for sustainable cities. Journal of Cleaner Production, 50, 111-122.

Osterwalder, A., & Pigneur, Y. (2009). Business model generation: a handbook for visionaries, game changers, and challengers. Amsterdam: Modderman Drukwerk.

Oukes, T., Berkers, F. Langley, D. & Raesfeld, A.V. (2020). Collaborative business models in a Base-of-the-Pyramid context: a systemic literature review. Proceedings 5th Annual Conference on New Business Models, Radboud University, Nijmegen School of Management. Doetinchem (NL): Stichting OCF 2.0

Quist, J., & Vergragt, P. J. (2004). Backcasting for industrial transformations and system innovations towards sustainability: relevance for governance. In Governance for Industrial Transformation. Proceedings of the 2003 Berlin Conference on the Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change. Berlin: Environmental Policy Research Centre (pp. 409-437).

Rappaport, A. (1986). Creating shareholder value: the new standard for business performance. Free press.

Rotmans, J., & Loorbach, D. (2009). Complexity and transition management. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 13(2), 184-196.

Rotmans, J., Kemp. R, and van Asselt, M.B.A. (2001), More Evolution than Revolution. Transition Management in Public Policy, Foresight 3 (1), 15-31

Schot, J., & Geels, F. W. (2008). Strategic niche management and sustainable innovation journeys: theory, findings, research agenda, and policy. Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 20(5), 537-554.

Schot, J., & Kanger, L. (2018). Deep transitions: Emergence, acceleration, stabilization and directionality. Research Policy, 47(6), 1045-1059.

Sondeijker, S., Geurts, J., Rotmans, J., & Tukker, A. (2006). Imagining sustainability: the added value of transition scenarios in transition management. Foresight: The Journal for Future Studies, Strategic Thinking and Policy, 8(5), 15 - 30.

Tukker, A., & Tischner, U. (2006). Product-services as a research field: past, present and future. Reflections from a decade of research. Journal of Cleaner Production, 14(17), 1552-1556.

Van den Bosch, S. (2010). Transition experiments: exploring societal changes towards sustainability. Doctoral Thesis, Erasmus University, Rotterdam, The Netherlands.

Visser, W. & Kymal, C. (2015). Integrated value creation (IVC): beyond corporate social responsibility (CSR) and creating shared value (CSV). Journal for International Business Ethics, 8(1).

Professional documentation

TNO Strategisch Plan, TNO (2017). Vliegwiel voor innovatie in Nederland, strategisch plan 2018–2021. Retrieved 02.05.2020, https://www.tno.nl/media/9442/tno_strategisch_plan_2018_2021.pdf (in Dutch only)

WP EEA (2017). Perspectives on transitions to sustainability. Retrieved 02.05.2020, https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/perspectives-on-transitions-to-sustainability

WP EU Pathways Project (2014-2016). Exploring transition pathways to sustainable, low carbon societies. Retrieved 28.04.2020, <u>https://www.pathways-project.eu</u>

WP Longhurst, N. and Chilvers, J. (2016) Mapping Diverse Visions of UK Energy Transitions: Co-producing Socio-technical imaginaries, 3S Working Paper 2016-28. Norwich: Science, Society and Sustainability Research Group, Retrieved 05.05.2020, <u>http://www.realisingtransitionpathways.org.uk</u>

WP EU TRANSrisk (Stockholm Environment Institute) (2019). Transition pathways and risk analysis for climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies. Retrieved 02.05.2020,

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds =080166e5c06d8d37&appId=PPGMS

WP TNO Berkers, F, Klein Woolthuis, R. en de Boer, J. (2015). Orchestrating Innovation. Retrieved 02.05.2020, https://repository.tudelft.nl/view/tno/uuid:63dd8522-f040-4501-9791-82daae15709f

7 Contact

Would you like to know more about how TNO deals with sectoral transitions? Please contact Frank Berkers via frank.berkers@tno.nl or +31 888 66 72 33.



A More detailed description of TNO cases

CILOLAB

CILOLAB is a living lab for sustainable urban logistics. Parties work together in a five-year programme to develop and implement urban logistical solutions in order to offer zero-emission alternatives for all stakeholders in 2025. In this living lab, (competing) logistical service providers, hub operators, municipalities and knowledge institutes work together and share data. However, receiving parties (such as retail) are not yet involved. The project has been running in Rotterdam since 2014 and other municipalities have also been involved since then. The living lab's starting point is to accelerate existing initiatives, not to start new ones. For zero-emission city logistics to succeed, competing logistical service providers must work together. This requires a different organisational form with new business models.

Lifestyle4Health

Lifestyle4Health looks at curing chronic diseases in a new way; from curative care (e.g. medication) to preventive care (e.g. lifestyle change). The goal of this programme is to halve (the impact of) the disease burden of lifestyle-related diseases in the next ten years. This programme — a collaboration between Leiden University Medical Centre and TNO together with several network partners — was established in 2018, but the transition itself began two years earlier. The transition from 'cure' to prevention not only requires a change of perspective ('prevention is better than cure') in the industry and among people as citizens, but it also requires a change in the entire chain. This applies not only to the dominant pharmaceutical industry, but also to pharmacists and drugstores, including general practitioners. Therefore, the way that medical research is set up needs to be changed as well. The crux lies in simultaneously changing a 'complete' set of actors.

Chemelot - Brightsite

Chemelot is a complex, integrated chemical site on the former DSM site in Geleen, of which various parts are owned by multiple parties with different interests (from local startups to multinationals with limited ties to the site). Brightsite is the initiative that aims to make the Chemelot site more sustainable and a climate-neutral chemical site by 2050. The opportunity and speed of making production processes 'greener' is closely related to the changes that the partners on the site can and want to implement. Green chemical products also require sales in other channels, which means that a new business model is required. However, the chemical industry is organised along international commodity markets, as a result of which global competition and price pressure strongly influence the playing field and thus the 'costs' of change. The partners within Brightsite are Sitech Services, TNO, Maastricht University and Brightlands Chemelot Campus. The project has only been running since last year and is a long-term project (up to 2050), which means that many concrete goals will be further defined in the future. During the process, new business models will have to be realised for the chemical companies on the site. Many of these models will be started from the bottom up, in cooperation with the existing parties.

Voltachem

VoltaChem is an industry-driven Shared Innovation Programme for the electrification of the chemical industry, focusing on the use of renewable energy for the production of heat, hydrogen and chemicals. This research programme aims to reduce the CO2 impact of chemistry through electrification. The collaboration between TNO, the Dutch 'Top Sector Chemicals' (Chemie), chemical companies and energy companies started in 2015 and the first results will become visible in the upcoming period.

B The seven phases of a transition process

By linking the seven phases to the various planning and policy instruments as described in chapter 1.5, a practical roadmap and toolkit for transition managers is starting to take shape.

Phase	Goal	Ste	Steps		ls
1. Initiation phase	Collective problem	1.	Design the transition arena	•	Stakeholder identification analysis
	definition	2.	Define the collective societal problem	•	Roundtable conversations with stakeholders
2. Vision development phase	Collective vision development	3.	Collect data on the situation in the future	•	Horizon scanning Delphi-method Trend audits
		4.	Develop a collective vision	•	Strategic Foresight workshop Visioning alternative system futures
3. Exploratory phase	Create a transition agenda	5.	Explore transition paths to reach the collective goals	•	Participatory backcasting Socio-technical scenario planning Scenario assessments
		6.	Develop a transition agenda	•	Stakeholder workshops on roadmapping
		7.	Test the transition agenda	•	Policy stress testing
4. Experimentati on phase	Experiment with collaborative business models	8.	Support collaborative niche experiments	•	Subsidies Investments
ar te	and niche technologies	9.	Promote collaborative business models and sustainable technologies	•	Collaborative icon and structural projects Promotion campaigns for sustainable technologies
		10.	Share knowledge and build social networks	•	Education programmes for niche and regime actors Incubators for collaborative niche innovations
5. Acceleration phase	Scale-up successful collaborative	11.	Accelerate successful niche developments	•	Investments State guarantees for upscaling investments

	business models and technologies	12. Develop new functionalities in the technology and business models	 Collaborative structural projects to scale up technology and business models Campaigns for acceptance of niche innovations
		13. Share best practices	Expertise centresInnovation centres
		14. Destabilise the regime	 Reduce support for regime technologies Change regulations to enforce the regime transformation
6. Regime adaptation- /disruption phase	Breakthrough of sustainable technologies and new social rules	15. Increase institutional support for new technologies and business models	 Investments Fiscal, economic and regulative incentives for sustainable technologies and collaborative business models
		 Phase out institutional support for (old) regime technologies and business models 	 Create economic and regulative incentives to support adaptation of niche technologies and business models and phase out old business Phase out support to conventional technologies and business models
7. Stabilisation phase	Alignment of the 1 new regime and preparations for a new transition 1	17. Create new rules and regulations for the new regime	Existing rules and regulations are aligned with the new regime
		18. Phase out the old regime	Fiscal, economic and legislative incentives are created to phase out conventional technologies and business models

Table 7: The seven phases of a transition process